THE
Carmelite Congregation
OF
MALABAR
1831–1931
TRICHINOPOLY:
ST. JOSEPH'S INDUSTRIAL SCHOOL PRESS
1932
Blessing of H. H. Pope Pius XI.
The Carmelite — — Congregation — — of Malabar

His Highness Sri Rama Varma, Maharaja of Cochin.

1831-1931
CONTENTS

FOREWORD ... ... ... ... ... XIX—XXVI

INTRODUCTION ... ... ... ... ... 1—8

CHAPTER I: 1828—1831, The two Founders of the Congregation
—Beginnings of the Mother-House ... ... ... ... ... 9—25

CHAPTER II: 1831—1846, Trial of Obedience—Seminary work—
Apostolate of the Press—Death of the two Founders ... 26—29

CHAPTER III: 1846—1856, The twofold life—Profession of the
First Eleven Fathers—Fr. Cyriac Elias (Chavara)—Missions
and Retreats ... ... ... ... ... ... 30—36

Cyriac Elias (Chavara), Superior General—The Monasteries
of Eithuruth, Vazhakulam and Plassenal ... ... ... ... ... ... 37—42

... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 43—47

CHAPTER VI: 1861—1866, The Roesian Schism and the Congregation—The Monastery of Palicunnu ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 48—54

CHAPTER VII: 1866—1873, Carmelite Sisters—Catechumenates
—Death of Mgr. Bernardine—The Monasteries of Ampalacal
and Mutholy—The Syrian Breviary—Fr. Cyriac Elias (Chavara's)
death—Fr. Cyriac Eliseus (Porukara) ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 55—66

CHAPTER VIII: 1873—1887, The Mellosian Schism—Petitions
for an Indian Bishop—Bishop Leo Mourin, S.J.—Mgr. Marcelline, Coadjutor Bishop—The Monasteries of Thevara and
Chethipusha—The Constitutions are approved "experimenti
gratia"—Mgr. Agliardi, Delegate Apostolic—The separation
of the Syrians from the Latins ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 67—78
CHAPTER IX: 1887—1890, The Delegate Apostolic becomes the Prior General of the Congregation—Modifications in the Constitutions—The Monasteries of Coonamsura, Pananallur, and Thevara—The Good Shepherd Church—Death of Fr. Cyril Eliezer (Porukara) ... 79—81


CHAPTER XI: 1931, The Centenary. The principal Centenary Celebrations in St. Joseph’s Monastery, Mannanam, the Mother-House ... 112—113

CHAPTER XII: 1932-1933, Centenary Celebrations in other Monasteries of the Congregation ... 135—134

FOREWORD

MALABAR, the cradle of Christianity in India, from remote Apostolic times, has always been characterized by her filial devotion towards the Mother of God. Tradition has it that the Apostle, St. Thomas, had an apparition of our Lady on Malayattur Mount, where he was encouraged by her to preach the Gospel to the inhabitants of the land. Christian monuments of antiquity unmistakably proclaim how deep-rooted was devotion to the Mother of God in the hearts of the St. Thomas Christians. Many of their churches that are in existence now for over fifteen or sixteen centuries, are dedicated to our Blessed Lady, the Virgin Mary. The Divine Maternity is commemorated several times daily, in the Mass, in the Liturgical prayers, in the public religious functions, and in the popular hymns and songs. The holy name of Mary was constantly on the lips of the Malabarians, and her feasts were kept up by them with all possible solemnity. There was scarcely a family—as even now—but proudly owned a daughter named Mariah; and priests added to their Christian name that of the Mother of God. The devotion of the “eight days’ fast,” consisting of voluntary abstinence, fast, and unceasing prayer in one or other of the famous churches dedicated to our Lady, is peculiar to the St. Thomas Christianity of Malabar. This practice—observed particularly by young women—dates as far back as the 9th century and is nowhere in vogue in the Christian world except in Malabar.

After the advent of the Portuguese, Western forms of Marian devotion were introduced into Malabar, where, in the hearts of the sons of St. Thomas, they found a soil congenial to their growth and development. It was at this period, in 1577, we read of Pope Gregory XIII, sending 50,000 reales to the St. Thomas Christians, to augment their devotion to the Blessed Virgin. In 1583 or 1586, Rev. Fr. Ros, S.J., wrote in admiration of the strenuous efforts of the Syrian Clergy of Malabar to promulgate, by their public preaching and teaching, the glorious title of Mary “Mother of God.”
Fr. Roz was a witness of the extraordinary devotion to the Mother of God of the then Archdeacon of the Syro-Malabar Church, George of Christ. He had, in 1576, built a church in honour of our Lady of the Assumption, and had procured for it privileges from Pope Gregory XIII, through the Rajah of Cochin.

The Schism of 1653 did not interfere with the queenly sway Mary held in Malabar. The Papal Commissary, Mgr. Sebastiani of the Carmelite Order, sent to stem the Schism, was greatly gratified to find more than 5000 Catholics, in the parish of Kuravilangad alone, wearing the scapular of our Lady of Mt. Carmel. The schismatics who had unhappily severed all connections with the Holy See, could not find it in their hearts to turn away from the Mother of God, as did their contemporary sectarians of the West.

The Carmelite rule that followed, strengthened and confirmed the filial attachment of the Christians of Malabar to the Blessed Virgin Mary. Marian devotion in its various forms is now so admirably practised by Catholic Malabar, as to suggest to any one that the Catholic religion and Marian devotion are synonymous on the Malabar coast, so much so, that a Catholic without the scapular of our Lady about his shoulders, is liable to be taken for a non-Catholic. The word "Matha" (mother), used by a Malabar Catholic without any qualifying epithet, is taken to refer to our Lady 'per se.' You will search in vain for a house in Catholic Malabar, that does not possess an altar dedicated to the Divine Mother, before which the inmates daily recite the Rosary and pay special homage during the month of May. All these proclaim, how devoted the St. Thomas Christians were and are to the Mother of the Word made flesh. Malabar is really 'Mary's Land'; may it not be allowed to adopt the enviable title "Mary's Dower" unhappily forfeited elsewhere?

It was as it were to crown the Marian cult in the Syro-Malabar Church that Providence designed the Institute of the Carmelite Congregation of Malabar in 1831. The year was a propitious one, as it witnessed the celebration of the Fourteenth Centenary of the Council of Ephesus, that crowning triumph of our Blessed Lady over heresy.

This Congregation limited in its resources, has yet signalled itself by promoting loyalty towards the See of St. Peter and devotion towards the Mother of God, as did the Council of Ephesus in 431. Students of Malabar Church History are well aware that, for the Congregation, the Romanian and the Melkite Schisms would certainly have cut Malabar off from the vivifying union with the See of Peter. The Congregation has, from its very first beginnings, always worked zealously to promote devotion to Mary among the Christians of Malabar. It is no exaggeration to state that the Marian devotion as it exists today in Malabar, owes a great debt to the untiring labours of the members of the Congregation. Conspicuous among the results of this salutary devotion has been the erection of the Syro-Malabar Hierarchy. For, His Holiness, Pope Pius XI, now gloriously reigning, in the course of his Consistorial allocution on December 21, 1923, proclaiming the erection of the Hierarchy, remarked among other things: "Id autem omnino Postulabatur singularis corundem erga Beatiissimam Virginem Mariam pietas.

All Malabar knows and appreciates the work effected by the Congregation during its century-long existence. Along domestic, social, educational and spiritual lines, Catholic Malabar has made rapid progress, owing, in great part, to the disinterested labours of this indigenous Carmelite Congregation. It is therefore, but proper, that a short sketch of its history be published in book form as a souvenir of its Centenary celebrations during the years 1931 and 1932, sealed with a special blessing and unique favours granted by the Holy See. The work of drafting the sketch was entrusted to the Very Rev. Fr. Bartholomew of Jesus, Prior, Chethipusha Monastery, and to the Rev. Fr. Placid of St. Joseph, Ph.D., D.D., D.C.L., and carefully revised by the Very Rev. Fr. Hyacinth of the Mother of Dolours, Prior, Mannanam Monastery, and by the Rev. Fr. Romeo Thomas of the Immaculate Conception, M.A., L.T. I therefore, on my part, gladly give my approbation to its being sent to the Press, with the hope that it will prove a fitting token.
of thanksgiving to God Almighty, for all the graces and favours He has bestowed on the Church and people of Malabar, through the instrumentality of the "Carmel in Malabar". May it also be a medium of expressing our gratitude to all the generous benefactors and well-wishers of the Institute, who have contributed to make it what it is at present: "The most important Religious Congregation of the Indian Church."

Monastery of the Sacred Heart

El. John of Jesus Mary, T. O. C. D.
Prior General.

INTRODUCTION

I. I. "The kingdom of heaven", said Our Lord, "is like to a grain of mustard seed which a man took and sowed in his field. Which is the least indeed of all seeds: but when it is grown up, it is greater than all herbs and becometh a tree, so that the birds of the air come and dwell in the branches thereof" (Matt. xiii.31, 32). This parable which was also a prophecy, was surely meant to apply primarily to the kingdom of God upon earth, the Church. It prefigured also the Church's various institutions having as their aim the salvation and the sanctification of souls, among which, Religious Orders and Congregations hold
a conspicuous place. Their history will tell us how humble their origin was, how slowly they grew, what fruits they have borne. The Carmelite Congregation of Malabar, the history of which we propose to sketch in this brochure, cannot indeed in any way compare with the great Religious Orders in the Church, which have ever stood out as her glory. There is, however, every indication, as may be seen from the history, that its roots are deep, and that its branches, by the merits of the religious, have spread far and wide for the salvation of many souls. The very existence of this Religious Congregation for a century in this country, while many others became extinct, makes one to cry out, "O God, are there not enough religious in India, and particularly in Cochin?" Whether or not the Congregation has justly enjoyed this centennial existence, it is for others to judge. We mean, in these pages merely to make a short survey of men and events, as they present themselves to us in a hurried review of them.

2. The Religious Congregation under review is the Syro-Malabar Rite. It is an indigenous one in its origin: The divine Planter, who had given the seed, put it under foreign influence in order to make it grow according to His eternal design. As plants and trees get rooted in firmly by means of saplings, so, too, this plant adapted itself to the western Moplah of religious life, by adopting much that was found suitable to time and circumstances. The plant is indigenous, but it has been greatly nourished and fertilized by the Alliance of Carmel.

II. Before beginning our sketch, we deem it not irrelevant to say a few words about the Catholic Church in Malabar, of which the Carmelite Congregation is a fruit.

2. Both history and tradition testify that St. Thomas, one of the twelve Apostles of Our Lord, evangelized South India and left there a living legacy in the persons of the Syrian Christians known always in history as "the St. Thomas Christians." Tradition has it that from the very beginning they used the East Syrian or Syro-Chaldaic Rite.

3. In the 16th century, the West coast of India came under Portuguese influence. The Portuguese started active missionary work. The King of Portugal was granted by the Holy See the right of Patronage (Padroado) over the new missions. In 1534, a Bishopric was established at Goa. In 1558, it was raised to an Archbishopric, and a suffragan See was established in Cochin. The Syrian Christians attracted the attention of the Portuguese, and they felt the influence of the Padroado. In 1699, Mgr. Alexis de Menezes, Archbishop of Goa, at a Synod held at Diu, ordered the St. Thomas Christians to be brought them under the Padroado and Latin rule. The Syrian See of Angamaly was placed under a Latin Bishop of Portuguese nationality, and it was transferred to Cranganore in 1665. This change occasioned dissatisfaction among the Syrians. In 1633, it
culminated in a great schism in the till-then-undivided Church of Malabar.

4. Those Syrians who were not involved in the schism sent a petition to the Holy See. At their request, Italian Carmelite Missionaries were sent to Malabar in 1556. Some influential members of the Syriac clergy co-operated with the Carmelites, and the mission proved a success. Since the Catholic Syrians did not like to continue under the jurisdiction of the Pardoado Archbishop of Cranganore, the Holy See placed them under the jurisdiction of Mgr. Sebastian, the head of the Carmelite Mission. The Vicariate of Malabar or Verapoly was established for the Syrians, and when Mgr. Sebastian was forced by the Dutch to leave India, an indigenous Syrian Priest, Alexander de Campo, was consecrated Vicar Apostolic of Malabar in 1583. The Vicariate was independent of the Pardoado, and was subject to the Propaganda. After the death of the Syrian Bishop, the Vicariate was placed under Latin and Carmelite Prelates. Hence, by the beginning of the 18th century, many Syrians reverted to the jurisdiction of the Pardoado Archbishop of Cranganore. About a century later, in 1838, when along with the Pardoado, the Diocese of Cochin and the Archdiocese of Cranganore were suppressed by the Holy See, the Syrians of Cranganore were again placed under Verapoly. In 1857, on the restoration of the Pardoado, a part of the Syrians again came under Pardoado jurisdiction.

5. When the Dutch expelled the Portuguese from Cochin, at the end of the 17th century, Verapoly was given jurisdiction also over the Latin Syrians. This jurisdiction ruled over both Syrians and Latinas. In 1854, the Holy See decreed the separation of the South Travancore Mission from Verapoly. The decree was given effect in 1858, and the new Vicariate of Quilon was thus established.

6. The intense desire of the Syrians to be governed by a Bishop of their own Rite again gave rise to the Roscan schism in 1861 and the Mellosian schism in 1874. Moved by the repeated petitions of the Syrians, the Holy See determined to grant them indigenous rule. As a first step, the Holy See in 1887, withdrew the Syrians from the jurisdiction of Verapoly and Cranganore and placed them under two new European Vicars Apostolic. In 1896, three indigenous Syrians were consecrated Vicars Apostolic. Finally, in 1923, the Holy See established the Syro-Malabar Hierarchy, with the Archbishop of Ernakulam as Metropolitan and the Bishops of Changanacherry, Trichur, and Kotuym as suffragans. The Syro-Malabar Rite is a modified form of the ancient East Syrian or Syro-Chaldaic Rite.

7. The schismatic Syrians who were cut off from the Mother Church in 1635, fell into the Jacobite heresy in 1665, in course of time they adopted the West Syrian Rite of Antioch used by the Jacobites. This Rite permits Arabic translations for certain prayers and Rubrics. Among the Malabar
THE CARMELITE CONGREGATION OF MALABAR

Jacobites, Malayalam took the place of Arabie. Protestant Missions followed in the wake of Jacobitism; they made converts chiefly from the depressed classes. Several attempts at reunion were made. The one set on foot by the Bethany Movement deserves the praise and esteem of all. Mar Ivanios, Archbishop of Bethany, and his suffragan, Mar Theophilos of Tiruvalla, were received into the Church on the 30th of September, 1900. They retain the West-Syrian Rite, as used by the Malabar Jacobites, with necessary adaptations. This new Rite is called the “Malabar Syrian Rite” to distinguish it from the “Sure-Malabar Rite”, Malabar, and “Malabar mean the same, and the word “Syrian” in Malabar refers to the St. Thomas Christians.

8. A pontiff, the Latin Catholics of Malabar. In 1588, when the Jesuit (Latin) Hierarchy was established, Vercotel became an Archdiocese with Quilon under it. Grangings and had been suppressed but later Cochini soldiery to be under Jesu, as it was used to beginning. In 1800, the southern portions of Vercotel and Quilon were transferred respectively into the new Diocese of Vercotel and Quilon. Vercotel and Kollam are entrusted to the Roman Catholic hierarchy; Visayanam and Quilon are administered by the Dominicans (Carmelites of the First Order), and Vercotel still enjoys the title of the Archbishop.

H. I. Religious life for the St. Thomas Christians was not a novelty. Cosorus in the 16th century wrote thus about them:—

"There are among them sodalities of monks and communities of sacred virgins, who, however, live in remote dwellings: Chastity is observed by them with the utmost zeal. They derive this custom from the time of St. Thomas" (Raulin). There was a monastery and a church of striking dimensions at Mylapore near the tomb of St. Thomas, whither many of the St. Thomas Christians resorted to spend their lives in prayer and contemplation. Like the Chaldean monks they must have been following the ancient Rule of St. Antony. The Chaldean bishops who came to Malabar in 1504 make mention of this monastery in their letter to the Chaldean Patriarch of Babylon. On the following passage in that letter of the bishops.

"Some christians have begun to inhabit the house (Daire) of St.

INTRODUCTION

Thomas the Apostle," the Rev. Fr. H. Hosten, S.J. makes the following comment: -- "The Syrian bishops of 1504 would apply to the expression used by ‘Amr (c. A.D. 1500), and the Dair Thumas of Yakan and the poet Mokr al-Fak‘ussi might be Yono’s monastery of St. Thomas in India, near or below the Black Island.

The Very Rev. Fr. General of the Carmelites Congregations of Malabar with his Councillors (before 363 A.D.) which we think should be identified with the monastery and church of great size and magnificence visited by Theodore, before A.D. 593-594 at the place in India where St. Thomas’ body was first buried (I.e. Mylapore). . . . Mar Yono’s monastery (before 363 A.D.) was near the town of Milon, which we identify with ‘Amr’s Melian, i.e. Mayilapurr (peacock-town)." (Kerala Society Papers, Series 5, p. 245.)

2. Thus we find that the Carmelite Congregation of Malabar is a revival, in modern times, of religious life among the St. Thomas Christians. The Malankara Syrian Church too has Religious Institutions known as the Bethany Brotherhood and Bethany Sister-
THE CARMELITE CONGREGATION OF MALABAR

hood, which follow the ancient Rule of St. Basil. We shall have to speak incidentally of the Sisterhood of the Syro-Malabar Church. The Latins of Malabar also have indigenous Religious Institutions for men and women. Of all these, the Congregation we have to deal with, is the first in the order of time and importance.

CHAPTER I

1828–1831

The Two Founders of the Congregation—Beginnings of the Mother-House.

1. It was the beginning of the 19th century; the famine and plague that followed Tipu Sultan’s invasion of Malabar had just subsided. The schismatic Syrians, owing to their too close contact with Protestant Missionaries, began gradually to be protestantized. Disobedience to the mandates of the Holy See was about to give rise to the notorious Padroado schism in the churches under the Portuguese Patronage. The Syrian Catholics of Malabar, however, as a body, kept imperturbably to the Apostolic See. There was, however, among them much room for improvement and progress.
THE CARMELITE CONGREGATION OF MALABAR

The education of the bulk of the Clergy was conducted by “Malpas” (professors), priests noted for their learning and piety, who, with the recognition from the local Ordinaries, were Rectors of Petit Seminaries—a system of imparting ecclesiastical education not uncommon in Europe even after the Council of Trent. A thorough knowledge of the Syriac language, a sufficient knowledge of the rudiments of Theology, a minute study of Holy Writ, and an elaborate training in all the Ceremonies of the Church, were at all times insisted upon by the “Malpas”. The spread of Protestantism among the schismatic Syrians called for higher and more exhaustive knowledge in Theology on the part of the Clergy. Only a select few received their training in the Seminary of Verapoly conducted by the Discalced Carmelite Missionaries.

As for higher secular education, there was no scope for it. With the advent of the C. M. S. Missionaries, English education began to hold ground in Malabar. The schismatics naturally took the best advantage of it. In the absence of proper parochial schools, Catholic children had to learn their Catechism and ordinary prayers in village schools.

3. The local Ordinaries had always at heart the amelioration of the spiritual and social conditions of both the clergy and the laity; they had done towards it what their circumstances permitted; much, however, remained still to be done. The fulness of God’s time came in the 19th century, when, there appeared a confluence of agencies that wrought with marvellous success an all-round improvement in the Church of Malabar. The chief of these agencies, it may be said, was the Carmelite Congregation of Malabar trained under the able direction of learned and holy ecclesiastical authorities.

4. The Very Rev. Fr. Thomas Palakal of Pallipuram in the present Archdiocese of Ernakulam, beloved alike, of God and people, a great disciplinarian and an ardent lover of prayer and meditation, was Rector of Pallipuram Seminary, which, in discipline and observance of rules, surpassed all its sister seminaries scattered all over Malabar. As Secretary to Mgr. Raymond Sutera C.C., Vicer of Verapoly, 1908–1916, and as Consultant to the successors of His Holiness, he passed on to his successors, the charge of training candidates for the Sacred Ministry. Though his disciples, Fr. Palakal introduced many reforms into the Malabar Church. He deviated, not a little, from the old method of conducting studies and enforcing discipline in seminaries. He insisted upon the seminarians always remaining under his immediate vigilance.
and their habitual wearing of the clerical soutane—an innovation gradually adopted by the whole of the Syro-Malabar Clergy. Not satisfied with the old curriculum of studies, he got down Tamil books treating on Theological subjects and taught them to his pupils. What characterized him most was his ardent love of study, prayer, and penance. He was always seen, either busy with books in his room, or pouring forth his soul before God in the church. He observed a daily rigorous fast without any breakfast. He had the gift of tears; it was more difficult for him to suppress his tears than for others to shed them. His face, though emaciated, was ever radiant with divine love; Mgr. Francis Xavier, O.C.D., the then Vicar Ap. of Verapoly, used to say that those who looked at the face of Fr. Palakal, felt the Holy Ghost dwelling in him. He daily recited, with the seminarists, the Syro-Malabar Office, which at that time had not a definite form and was rather long. His patience with and love of enemies were quite extraordinary. His life as the Seminary Rector actuated him with the desire of founding a Religious community, which, he hoped, would prove an instrument in the hands of God towards the material, intellectual and spiritual welfare of Malabar.

3. Father Palakal had an intimate friend in the person of Very Rev. Fr. Thomas Porukara, who, also, fostered the noble idea of inaugurating Religious life among the St. Thomas Christians. Father Thomas Porukara of Chamakulam in the present Diocese of Changanacherry had received his ecclesiastical training in the Seminary of Verapoly. He too was noted for his deep piety and mortified life. Vicar of his own parish, St. Joseph’s, Champaakulam, Fr. Porukara was the Apostle of the devotion to St. Joseph. The custom of preaching sermons in churches every Sunday, owes its origin to him. He was a great friend of the poor. Every Saturday, before distributing alms—a long-standing custom in the well-to-do families and churches of Malabar—Fr. Porukara would gather the poor in the church, recite the Rosary with them and prepare many of them for Confession. He introduced the holy custom of reciting the Rosary in parish churches every evening. His zeal for the salvation of souls was so great that his superiors appointed him to more difficult and more responsible posts.

6. In 1838, when Fr. Porukara was Vicar of the Latin church of Thankacherry in the present Diocese of Quilon, Mgr. Maurelius Stabilini, O.C.D., came to Malabar as Vicar Apostolic Ad interim of Verapoly. Relieving Fr. Porukara of the care of souls, Mgr. Stabilini, reposing full confidence in him, appointed him his Secretary.

7. Fr. Palakal and Fr. Porukara felt, with divine inspiration, that the time had come when they could realize their long cherished desire of founding a Religious institute wherein to devote themselves entirely to the attainment of evangelical perfection and to work for the social, moral and spiritual advancement of their brethren. Their idea they communicated to Mgr. Stabilini. He was very pleased to approve of it and to encourage them in their holy enterprise. Moreover, he contributed his share of a good sum towards the erection of a suitable Religious house, inviting the churches and the faithful of Malabar to follow his example, to bring the arduous endeavours of the two Fathers to a happy success. His circular letter met with a hearty response from the leading Syrian churches, especially of Kuttanad as also from the people of Malabar; in a very short time the two saintly Fathers collected sufficient funds with which they could begin the work of the Religious house they proposed to erect.
chapter I. 1829-1831

The translation, more or less literal, of the above given Circular Letter

We, Marcellus, Bishop of the Diocese of Malabar, and of the Diocese of Cochin, deacon, grace, and peace, from our Lord Jesus Christ, to all those who see, read, and hear this Our letter, sent and published with great desire through the hands of the Revd. Priests, Our confessor, and co-workers, to Our spiritual work on behalf of those who seek the face of Our Lord.

In the territory committed to Our jurisdiction by Our Apostolic See, We are ever on the alert to carry out all those things which are necessary for the welfare of the faithful and conducive to God's greater glory and the good of the Church. We know that you desire to see among you a community of men living together in the Holy Church with the souls who are continuously engaged in prayer and spiritual works. In other countries which were evangelised much later than Malabar, there are many monasteries for both men and women. You, who are ancient Christians, requested the Holy Church to establish a similar Religious House. Yet, so far, no steps have been taken for the establishment of a monastery. There are no men and women here who have benefited by the example and labours of the Religious. The teaching about the choice of the Religious Life is not known among lay men and women, and even among the Priests, Our spiritual brethren. We do not find many who are ready to embrace
THE CARMELITE CONGREGATION OF MALABAR

the Religious life. In order therefore to open a door for Religious life, the two Priests who are entrusted with this letter, desire to establish a church and a monastery for those who are willing to embrace the Religious life, and to raise the necessary funds for their maintenance. But, if they are left to their own resources, they will not be able to accomplish the noble project. Contributions from many people will make it possible and easy of accomplishment. He who makes a donation is happier than he who accepts it. Contributions for the present purpose will entitle the donors to innumerable divine favours and blessings. Hence we earnestly desire and recommend that donations be given from the churches and the people to the two Priests whom we send, so that they may raise the monastery, the church and the necessary funds for the maintenance of the Religious. Thus the way will be opened for the happy introduction of Religious life into this Diocese. And those who help this project will undoubtedly share in all the benefits resulting therefrom. The example of the Religious will instruct the ignorant. Those who are willing to become Religious will have a chance to do so. The piously inclined who are now scattered here and there can live together in communities. The Church will be glorified. The countries and the whole world will have peace. Those who are called to enter heaven by means of the Religious life, will be made perfect by the Lord of all things. They will be free from all worldly affords and they will devote themselves entirely to spiritual things. By the zealous work of these elect souls, all possible blessings will be secured. Generous charity will ensure perseverance in virtue. We know that your zeal is such as will impel you to make donations for this purpose according to your means, may even exceed your means. We exhort you therefore to make contributions according to your ability, to give with willing minds and extended hands and with a charity which knows no murmurs. We advise and command all of you to give with a generous mind, the required material alms, each one according to his means, the poor in imitation of the poor widow who cast in only two mites, and the wealthy in imitation of the rich man who cast in much; thus will you reap a spiritual harvest.

CHAPTER I. 1829-1831

May the grace of the Almighty God and Our own blessing and benediction be upon you.

This decree is issued on the 1st of November 1829, after the birth of Christ.

(Signed) F. MAURILUS,
Bishop of Dolos,
interim Victor Apostolic of Malabar and Corbin.

To the two Priests, Fr. Thomas Pathal and Fr. Thomas Perukara, who are entrusted with this decree. We, Maurilus, Bishop of Dolos, have handed over rupees two hundred (Rs. 200) as Our own contribution for this excellent project mentioned in the decree.

(Signed) F. MAURILUS,
Bishop of Dolos.

In accordance with these letters patent, from the parish church of Kallarakat, Rs. 300 are handed over to the above mentioned Fathers.

(Signed) Fr. JOSEPH PUTHICHIYANGI,
Vicer of the Kallarakat church.

According to these letters patent, four hundred rupees (Rs. 400) are handed over from the church of Kollumkatt to the above said Fathers.

(Signed) Fr. GEORGE THEKEDAM,
Vicer.

In accordance with these letters patent, from the church of Pulicruma, with the consent of the parishioners, assembled in Council, one thousand punds of paddy are handed over to the above mentioned Fathers.

(Signed) Fr. GEORGE MUNNUTTI NALPATHU,
Vicer.
THE CARMELITE-CONGREGATION OF MALABAR

In accordance with these letters patent, from the church of the Holy Cross at Alleppey, with the consent of the parishioners, assembled in Council, one hundred rupees (Rs. 100) are handed over to the above mentioned Fathers.

(Sd.) FR. LUKE THEKUMURI, 
Vicar.

In accordance with these letters patent, from the church of Vadacara, with the consent of the parishioners, assembled in Council, one hundred rupees (Rs. 100) are handed over to the above mentioned Fathers.

(Sd.) FR. AUGUSTINE, 
Vicar.

In accordance with these letters patent, from the church of Anukusha, with the consent of the parishioners, assembled in Council, fifty rupees (Rs. 50) are handed over to the above mentioned Fathers.

(Sd.)

In accordance with these letters patent, from the church of Anakkallunkal, with the consent of the parishioners, assembled in Council, for the present two thousand five hundred Chuckrans, (Rs. 871) are given.

(Sd.)

In accordance with these letters patent, from the church of Paliparama, with the consent of the parishioners, assembled in Council, one hundred rupees (Rs. 100) are given.

(Sd.) FR. GEORGE, 
Vicar.

To the above mentioned Fathers, according to these letters patent, for the present, two hundred rupees (Rs. 200) are given by Parayil Kunjavarah.

(Sd.)

CHAPTER I. 1828–1831

8. The next step was to select a suitable spot whence they could, while serving God under a religious roof, radiate their activities throughout the whole of Malabar. Several hillocks were proposed; at last, Mannanam, exceptionally blessed by the beauties of Nature, and easy of access from every part of Malabar, in the present Diocese of Changanacherry, was fixed upon.

9. From the very beginning Rev. Fr. Cyriac Chavara of Kainakary in the present Diocese of Changanacherry, a disciple of Fr. Palakal, Rev. Fr. Pascal of the Latin Rite from Arthunganil, and a layman, Jacob Kaniathara, a neighbour of Fr. Porukara, were associated with the Founders in the noble work of erecting the new House of God.

10. May 11, 1831, was the day fixed for the blessing of the corner stone of the Mother-House of the future Carmelite Congregation of Malabar. Mgr. Stabilini came to Mannanam to perform
THE CARMELITE CONGREGATION OF MALABAR

the function personally, but, being impeded by an unexpected indisposition, left the desirable task to either Fr. Palikal or Fr. Porukara. Owing to mutual deference neither of them would undertake to perform the ceremony. At last Fr. Porukara yielded. There then arose the question as to the name the foundation stone should bear. Mgr. Stabilini suggested the name of St. John the Baptist, Fr. Palikal that of St. Dominic, and Fr. Porukara that of St. Joseph. Finally, Fr. Porukara’s suggestion was accepted, and the foundation stone bore St. Joseph’s name. Whereupon, Father Porukara, in the presence of Mgr. Stabilini, Fr. Palikal and a multitude of priests and laymen, during the Postulicate of Pope Gregory XVI and the reign of Rama Varma Kulasekhara Pemmal, Raja of Travancore, laid the foundation stone of the First Church and Mother-House of the Congregation, in the name of St. Joseph, the great Patron of Carmel. With the hearty co-operation of the Malabar Clergy and Jolly, the work progressed under the direction of Fr. Porukara and Fr. Chavara. Fr. Palikal had to return to Palliparam Seminary where he was Rector. All that he could do was to direct from afar the work at Mannanam. Fr. Porukara had to go round collecting alms, chiefly from Muvattupuzha, Thodupuzha, and Munnaril, while Fr. Chavara remained at Mannanam to conduct the work. The Catholic families of Thyul and Perumamalil, and the Nair family of Kallampach, were of great help to the Fathers, who were strangers to the place. The neighbouring parishes of Athirampuzha, Kaipuzha, and Kadamaloor, and some of their parishioners also contributed their share for the work at Mannanam. Mass was said on Pentecost Sunday of the same year in the newly-built Chapel. It is worthy of mention that Fr. Porukara and Fr. Chavara were often found with the workmen, carrying stones and mortar for the building of the Chapel and the adjacent Monastery—an example followed by the Fathers who succeeded them.

11. Ever since the foundation of the Monastery at Mannanam, Mannanam has been the centre of Religious life and Catholicity in Malabar. The Visitors Apostolic and Papal Representatives have been given official and solemn receptions, in the name of the whole

CHAPTER I. 1828–1831

Catholic Malabar, at Mannanam. Delegates Apostolic and Bishops have often selected Mannanam for their residence. The Clergy and


larity of Malabar gathered at Mannanam to deliberate on religious and social questions.

12. The Royal Families of Travancore and Cochin have always been kind and benevolent towards the Congregation. His Highness Sir Rama Varma Ayiliam Tirunal had often expressed his satisfaction at the rapid growth of the new-born “Arama” at Mannanam. H. H. Visakhram Tirunal presented to the house a large oil-painting of the Madonna which is still kept in a prominent place in the Monastery. H. H. Prince Aewati Tirunal, R.A., was pleased to pay a visit to Mannanam. His Highness Sri Mulam Tirunal, of happy memory, looked upon some of the members of the Congregation with special veneration, and the new magnificent buildings of the
THE CARMELITE CONGREGATION OF MALABAR

St. Joseph’s Press, have been inaugurated as a memorial of the Shashthiapaduprachi of His Highness, H. H. Kerala Varma Vallab Koli, Thampuran, C. I. E., was likewise a great admirer of the Congregation. His Highness’s visit to Mannam and also the assumption of the patronage of the St. Ephrem’s High School are only a few among the many tokens of the sincere esteem of the illustrious scholar, for this Religious Institution. The Circular Letter issued by the Prior General of the Congregation on the occasion of the Installation of H. H. Sri Chinna Tirunal, the present Maha Raja, amply bear witness to the deep-seated loyalty of the Congregation towards the Royal House.

CHAPTER I. 1929–1937

13. The attitude of the Royal Family of Cochin towards the Congregation has been equally sympathetic. His Highness Sri Rama Varma the late Maha Raja, contrary to all precedents, even paid a visit to the Monastery at Mukhamb and himself laid the foundation of the present English School there. H. H. the present Maha Raja is also evincing a similar interest in the well-being of the monasteries in the State. It is worth mentioning in this connection that the British Residents as well as the Dewana and the other Public Officials of the two States have, without exception, contributed much towards the progress and prosperity of the Congregation.